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PUBLISHER’S FOREWORD

As is the case with many books, there is a story behind this work, one that needs to be told so that the reader will understand the events that led to its publication.

In mid-February 1997, Peter Wyden called me and said, “Dick, I have a manuscript I want to send you. I’ve taken it as far as I can without editorial guidance. But I know you’re an editor who doesn’t mind wielding a harsh blue pencil when it’s called for. May I send it to you?”

“I’d be delighted to read it,” I said, and the more he described its contents the more excited I became. I had the highest respect for Peter Wyden, both as an author and publisher. I had recently read his Stella, a stark but tremendously moving account of his return to Germany to research the fate of one of his close schoolmates, a teenage girl who, as a Jew, had agreed — after having been tortured and promised that her parents would not be sent to Auschwitz — to collaborate with the Nazis. Peter was obsessed to know what had impelled her not only to collaborate but become, in a sense, a pro-Nazi monster. But if he was a fine writer, he was also a stellar publisher. Both of us had, in the 1970s, an editorial imprint, I at Viking, Peter at Morrow, and we used to meet irregularly to compare notes on the virtues and frustrations of having your own imprint. As Peter focused increasingly on his writing we had seen each other less, but whenever Peter and I did meet in the corridors of publishing, the mutual respect and basic friendship was always there intact.

A week or two after our conversation, I received the following letter from Peter, dated February 20, 1997:

Dear Dick:

As we discussed, THE HITLER VIRUS, just under 400 mss pages, needs one helluva lot of work: new writing, also cutting, polishing, updating. Be assured that 1) I’m fully aware of the patient’s woeful clinical condition and 2) I’ll work as long as it’ll take to unreel this case effectively Your suggestions are more than welcome; I solicit them…. The middle sections —Joachim Fest et al — need pruning. I’d appreciate your thoughts on whatever strikes you as long-winded.

My personal life shows up here and there, as you’ll see — my memories of Hitler’s birthday, for example — but this dimension could be deepened so the book would take on more of a My-Life-With-Hitler cast. Again, guidance would help.

New developments have left some of my case histories incomplete. Just this month, the village-wide arson conspiracy in Dolgenbrodt — see Chapter 3, [manuscript] page 13 — broke open with new indictments. Gerhard Lauck, of the Nebraska propaganda factory, is in prison in Germany. Anna Rosmus, the “nasty girl” of Passau, has moved to the U.S. and works for the Holocaust Museum. I’ll tidy up all this, of course.

You’re entitled to know why this body bleeds from so many wounds. I abandoned it, hastily and temporarily, for a more perishable project: CONQUERING SCHIZOPHRENIA…. It’s partly history of the illness; partly case record of my younger son, Jeff, schizophrenic for 25 years; and partly history of revolutionary new medications, just out on the market, and the race for their development. I still need to sweat hard over the final editing.

As I’ve mentioned, I have a carton of recent documentation to be incorporated in the final HITLER chapter. A few examples from the top of the box: last December, a small revolution broke out in western Berlin over efforts to re-name a side street for Marlene Dietrich because she is still perceived as a traitor. A committee of US. doctors is campaigning against a physician, still practicing in Dachau, who was implicated in the murders of retarded children in World War II. A university president was unmasked as a former Hauptsturmfuhrer who altered his identity.

Major war criminals, including the commandant of the Theresienstadt concentration camp, were lately revealed to live comfortably, protected by fellow-citizens in the know.

So while the Hitler Virus is losing strength as new generations take over, plenty of developments keep it alive for the present.

All the best, Peter

I read the manuscript and found it fascinating, often brilliant: though it needed some serious cutting and pruning, as well as updating, it was far from in the “woeful clinical condition” Peter had described. Over the next three or four weeks, Peter and I talked on the phone, and on April 2, I wrote him a letter making him a formal offer, adding that I understood his prior commitment to finish, publish, and promote Conquering Schizophrenia had to take precedence, even if that meant pushing back publication of The Hitler Virus a year or more. Not atypically, Peter accepted my offer but preferred not to formalize it or take an advance until he felt the manuscript was ready for publication. “I’m familiar enough with the economics of independent publishing to know you can’t, you shouldn’t, be paying me an advance two or three years before we bring this child of mine out,” he said in a phone conversation that summer. “If it makes you nervous not to have a formal contract, know that you are the publisher of The Hitler Virus.”

That was good enough for me. Though other, more pressing manuscripts took priority, I constantly went back to Peter’s, read and reread chapters, tinkered, made notes, and talked to him on the phone every few weeks.

Conquering Schizophrenia took him more time and energy, both real and psychic, than Peter had anticipated, but we kept in touch, and by early 1998, I had gone as far as I could without Peter’s further input. Increasingly, he felt he needed one more trip to Germany to follow up on some of the more virulent manifestations of the Hitler virus, and, during an exchange of letters in January 1998, I heartily agreed. When would he take the trip? Peter was vague, but thought “sometime in the spring or summer” of that year.

What I never knew, because he carefully refrained from telling me after it happened, was that in February Peter had suffered a severe heart attack. But, robust and hearty as he was, he had apparently fully recovered. To me, he simply said that, until he could make the German trip, I should put the book on hold, assuring me however that once the trip was over, it would be a matter of weeks before we could finalize the “monster” (his term).

Peter never made that final trip to Germany In June 1998, he died within days of suffering a cerebral hemorrhage. I didn’t learn about the sad event until months later, for I was out of the country when it happened, and when I returned I made no immediate contact, since in essence he had told me that until his return from Germany, “don’t call me; I’ll call you.”

Saddened and upset, I didn’t even look at the manuscript for several weeks, assuming there was no point. Then, one weekend, almost on a whim, I scooped it up and shoved it, almost belligerently, into my briefcase. By Sunday night I knew I had to publish Peter’s last work. We would have to do the updating he had intended to do himself; the notion was daunting but not impossible. On Monday I wrote Elaine, Peter’s widow, who had “lived” much of this book with him, and informed her of our decision to go ahead. I asked her if she knew the whereabouts of the “carton of documentation” he had been hoarding up to his death. Yes, she said. She had never delved into it, but she could send it on. It was Peter’s repository, his cardboard box file into which almost daily he dropped any reference he came across to the Hitler virus. Fine, I said, we would start with that. We also had a number of contacts in Germany whom we could ask to follow up on various manifestations of the virus and see how they had developed over the intervening two or three years. Thus, in the present manuscript, there are probably as many as fifty-five to sixty pages of new material. Doubtless the prose is not as scintillating, the thinking not as cogent, as Peter’s would have been, but throughout we have tried to emulate his style and respect his viewpoint as much as humanly possible. We have also asked Elaine Wyden to review the completed manuscript and make any changes, of style or substance, that she thought inconsistent with her knowledge or memory of the events, many of which she witnessed. Had he lived to see this book through, the author would doubtless have thanked the many people who helped shape it over the years. As Elaine Wyden has assured me, they will know who they are.

From our end, I would like to thank especially Alessandra Bastagli and Gregory Comer, who spent literally hundreds of hours following up on Peter’s notes and suggestions and verifying facts. Thanks, too, to Rebecca Morrison and David Martyn, who from their respective homes in Berlin and Bonn answered many questions.

So, Peter, if I may address this last thought to you: Your absence made this project difficult, and personally painful in more ways than one, but I also feel that, inadequate though it may be compared to what you envisaged, The Hitler Virus is a work that does you great honor.

Richard Seaver


HOW TO USE THIS BOOK

This is a not collective indictment of a most complex people. It is a highly personal investigation into a loose alliance of opinion-shapers, intellectuals, rank-and-file old-timers, and younger neo-Nazis who hanker after their Führer and apparently cannot let his spirit die. For the most part, they are respectable citizens, worlds removed from the neo-Nazi hooligans marching and heiling on television. They are more surprising and could become dangerous if the German economy were to go into serious decline.

I once believed that as the aging German population disappeared, the Hitler virus would die with it. And yet, at the dawn of a new century more than fifty-five years after the death of Adolf Hitler, there are still alarming indications that the virus is still very much alive and that his “Political Testament,” dictated on April 30, 1945, the day before his death, predicting that “the consolidation of the Nazi state represents the work of centuries to come,” was frighten-ingly accurate.

Documenting the manifestations of this “virus” is the point and purpose of this book.

P.W


BOOK 1

THE END THAT NEVER WAS
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WHEN THE PAST BECOMES THE PRESENT

It was in 1993 that I learned of the audience response to a TV documentary on Auschwitz, shown the previous year on the German network equivalent of Sixty Minutes.

The program had focused on the memorial that was installed after the Holocaust at the most notorious of the Nazi extermination camps, reporting that the remnants of remembrance were by now decaying and encouraging atonement in the form of contributions for repairs. The feedback from some viewers, however, did not exactly reflect sentiments of generosity.

One wrote, ‘I’d be happy to make a sizable contribution if it would make Auschwitz functional again.” Another took offense at pictures showing shoes worn by slaughtered Jews and piled up as booty for transport to the Reich. “I was a soldier in the Wehrmacht long enough to know German orderliness,” this viewer protested. “Taking those confiscated shoes and throwing them into a random pile, such a thing would never have been allowed.”

I thought I wasn’t reading right, even though I was hardly a stranger to German anti-Semitism. With my parents, I had fled from Hitler in 1937, not too long after Kristallnacht (Crystal Night, or Night of the Broken Glass). I was thirteen. Along with all other Jewish kids, I had been expelled from my junior high school because the Führer wished Jews removed from “public life.”

This disgrace was just as well, because I had lived in fear of my environment for some time. My homeroom instructor quite seriously taught in our “racial hygiene” course that the Jews were descended from the devil. My fellow students glared and checked me out for horns; on class excursions they bunched up behind me to sing a popular tune about the joy that comes when Jewish blood spurts from their knives.

Such boyhood experiences seemed very distant indeed in the 1990s, for in the intervening half century I had watched the Germans undergo a radical transformation, or so I thought. I had returned often, first in American uniform with the U.S. Military Government in 1945, and later as a tourist and author, roving widely to research books about the Holocaust, the Berlin Wall, and the divided lives in the two Germanys.

In my adult years, I had felt comfortable among the Germans, never quite at home but not unsympathetic. I made a lot of new friends, mostly younger men and women from the media and politics, my usual crowd, and they struck me as enlightened democrats, often more appreciative of their freedom than many Americans because of the repressive regime under which their parents had been forced to live. Yet there were a number of signs and statistics that I found disturbing.

Some poll results caught my eye as soon as I began to acquaint myself with up-to-date efforts to take the collective German pulse. In 1992, nearly forty-seven years after Hitler’s suicide, 42 percent of German voters, nearly one-half, declined all responsibility for wartime treatment of Jews. Some 32 percent went further: they said they believed that “the Jews are guilty of complicity when they are hated and persecuted.”

A novel thought: Were Jews now doomed to be implicated in their own mass murder? There probably were more believers in this bizarre notion than the overt poll statistics showed, because more than the reported number of voters were likely to hold poisonous convictions; no doubt they just didn’t want to disclose them to poll-takers.

Another poll in the new millennium revealed that 79 percent of Germans see May 8, 1945, as a day of liberation rather than of defeat. However, if one considers different age groups separately, 87 percent of people under the age of thirty think of May 8 as a day of liberation, while only 67 percent of those over fifty do. On a more positive note, 95 percent reject the “Auschwitz-lie” that the Allies invented the Holocaust in order to demonize defeated Germany

The poll findings helped me understand what I had been reading concerning a certain school of thought that was expanding into a cottage industry It was nurtured by “revisionist” history books, propaganda tracts camouflaged as academic journals, sensationalist telecasts, political assemblies, “news” headlines. They chorused denial that the Holocaust ever took place or else they found ways to dismiss events long documented beyond reasonable argument.

“Hoax,” concluded these accounts. “Myth,” they insisted. “Where did the smoke go?” cried one young man direct from the Auschwitz catacombs during a grisly TV program I saw. “Ja,” he kept demanding, “where did the smoke go?” He was striving to legitimize the Leuchter Report, a popular tract by Fred A. Leuchter, Jr., a German citizen who was raised in Canada and was living in Boston. An “engineer” without an engineering degree or training, Leuchter informed audiences of his findings that nobody was executed in Auschwitz.

The cause had other prominent spokesmen. “A shell game” — so the British “historian” David Irving told large audiences in flawless German. The murdered millions? “They were whisked into new homes, lives, and identities in the Middle East,” he declared, “leaving their old, discarded identities behind as ‘missing persons.’“

For years, Irving functioned as the well-paid mouthpiece for Dr. Gerhard Frey, the wealthy head of the right-wing DVU — the Deutsche Volksunion, or German People’s Party — and publisher of the National-Zeitung, whose red banner headlines, “What Really Happened at Auschwitz,” “What Really Happened at Dachau,” and similar revelations, were a weekly diet for some 100,000 subscribers.

To keep from withering in todays democratic German society, such extremism, however marginal, required an underpinning more respectable than the heiling, shaved-head neo-Nazi hooligans I had watched marching on American television. And, behold, at least one impressive source of credibility wasn’t hard to find.

As a class, German professors occupy an unusual status, simultaneously revered and mainstream, and the buzz among intellectuals punched up a history professor, Ernst Nolte, of whom I had just begun to hear. My regular reading, the liberal Spiegel magazine and the weekly Die Zeit, obviously did not think highly of him. The conservative Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, the daily whose readers like to compare it to the New York Times, was, however, a staunch advocate of Nolte. Fan and foe alike accorded him the treatment of a hot property, a VIP. Respectful attention and lots of printed space was his. Radio and TV also catered to Nolte’s views.

His picture showed a ramrod figure, bespectacled, austere in a vested dark suit that fit like a uniform. He had lately turned emeritus from the faculty of Berlin’s Free University, a liberal-oriented creation of the American occupiers. His thick books about the rise and philosophy of fascism and communism had enjoyed applause from academics. These works ranked too highbrow for popular consumption, however — the language was too convoluted, the bite too antiseptic. His latest 500-pager, Streitpunkte (Points of Contention), was said to whip up new waves about the very basics of National Socialism.

The reviewers were right: there were fresh interpretations here. The Nuremberg Laws of racial discrimination were described by Nolte as a statesmanlike move to restrain anti-Semitic violence. The gassings were likewise acts of moderation, surely more humane than shooting naked people in front of their newly dug graves, as had been customary. Hitler, moreover, deserved admiration for having produced an economic miracle and for creating a military machine without equal.

All this seemed thought-provoking, especially since it did not originate with the likes of David Irving and Fred Leuchter. It was a trend known as “the Intellectualization of the New Right.” And did the “New Right” live only in an ivory tower of self-delusion? Was it a small, isolated elite? I picked up the hint of an answer in the breath-takingly beautiful Bavarian mountains, where I had once gone to summer camp. It suggested otherwise.

In Berchtesgaden, so I was reading, some 340,000 pilgrims a year still trooped to the Fuhrer’s sacred mountain, his “Eagle’s Nest,” paying $12 per ticket for their homage. They were known as “brown tourists,” and 70 percent were Germans.

I concluded that attention needed to be paid to the outward as well as the clandestine manifestations of what by then I had dubbed in my mind “the Hitler virus,” and decided to return once again to Germany.
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THE JOURNEY BEGINS

For a moment I thought my hearing was playing tricks on me. I was talking with Professor Ernst Nolte, the historian, at seventy-one my contemporary, in his gloomy, cavernous apartment off Kurfiirstendamm in Berlin. Our topic was Adolf Hitler. Nothing remarkable about that. The Führer remains a popular ghost in German conversation, sometimes as a demon, sometimes as a quasi-member of one’s family, a father figure who made it big in Berlin.

“I don’t consider him the embodiment of evil,” said Professor Nolte pleasantly. He was the same grave, old-school figure in his gray vested suit, the picture of decorum and scholarly rectitude that I had spotted earlier in his author photo.

In his low-key manner he kept on chatting in the same vein, much as one contemplates the weather. Nothing so flagrant was said as to deny that the Holocaust occurred; merely that, as he had written, the gassing of Jews proved to Nolte that “painless death was intended.” On balance, National Socialism did not seem such a bad idea to the professor. It incorporated “positive elements” that nowadays tended to get overlooked. His concern was apparent: the world was being unfair to the Führer.

Geographically, I was at home. Literally I was born under enormously high ceilings, much like those in Nolte’s residence, only a few minutes distant on Kantstrasse 128 in Charlottenburg. From childhood I also remembered how awed the Germans are by ranking academics and reminded myself not to fall into that trap.

It is a slippery task to respond to Nolte and his breed in any surroundings, including the United States. The outrageousness of their views takes one’s breath away. My profession taught me long ago not to act shy or stand silent, yet some defining encounters with bigots can paralyze one’s speech. The afternoon with Nolte — his Frau Professor served the obligatory Kaffee und Kuchen, along with homey small talk — was one such occasion.

It reminded me of a snowy winter in the wheatfields of western Kansas. As a young reporter for the Wichita Eagle, I was interviewing a farmer who could have stepped out of a Norman Rockwell magazine cover. Oil had been discovered under his fields and he was suddenly rich. In the line of duty, I inquired how it felt to have so much money.

“OK,” he grumped, “but the Jews got it all.”

Even after pausing to collect myself, I was regrettably unable to squeeze out a word; nor could I summon a reaction to Professor Nolte in 1994.1 My Kansas farmer — I still see his sly face in front of me more than forty years later — had lost his shirt through his own stupidity. He had gambled away his millions by uninformed speculation on the volatile Commodity Exchange. Apparently, that institution was equated in his mind with “the Jews.”

Nolte’s Weltanschauung springs from more ideological sources, but did such archconservatives share something that transcended traditional anti-Semitism? And was this something — or someone — rooted in a peculiarly German phenomenon?

At a guess, Hitler was the common denominator. Surely he was more than a vague symbol in today’s turbulence. He had made it materialize to begin with; was he still making waves? When Nolte put forth his creative circumlocutions in order to “renegotiate and diminish the national mortgage of guilt” (in the memorable phrase of a sharp British observer), was the professor appeasing a great German psychic hunger? Was the denial of the Holocaust more than an invention and a lie? Was it perhaps a need, because if the Holocaust didn’t happen one did not have to feel guilty?

Perhaps these ever-pending psychic leftovers from Nazi rule helped to explain why a Hitler apologist like Nolte was being invited to write articles for leading newspapers, why even magazines that opposed him and his views published pages and pages of interviews with him, and why this dry and forbidding figure was such a popular guest on television.

I thought back to my first return to Germany as a soldier in the spring of 1945. It seemed a time of closure. In the Führer’s dank Berlin bunker shortly after 3 P.M. on April 30, 1945, the Hitler phenomenon appeared to have come to a most inglorious end. The finality of the dictators death seemed immutable and the scene frozen for all time.

Face swollen, hands trembling, Hitler had startled his friend, the architect and armaments minister Albert Speer, by shuffling about, looking for once vulnerable. Fifty steps below the ground, under sixteen feet of concrete topped by an additional six feet of earth, he gave a start every time a heavy Soviet bomb detonated in the real world outside and made the entire fortress shudder.

The Third Reich was tumbling down at that moment and the Führer was about to vanish. Or so it was then assumed by everyone — except Hitler himself

At 2 A.M. the previous day he had asked the youngest of his four secretaries, a war widow named Gertrud (Trudel) Junge, to come with him from the map room where he had just married his longtime mistress, Eva Braun, in a makeshift ceremony lasting only a few minutes.

Together, the Führer and Frau Junge withdrew into a smaller nearby conference room, and Hitler, trembling and speaking from notes, began dictating the document he wanted labeled “My Political Testament.” Frau Junge would remember how her hand shook as she bent over her steno pad.

Consulting his notes, he named a new government of twelve henchmen and charged them with responsibilities extending into infinity: “Our task, the consolidation of the National Socialist state, represents the work of centuries to come….”2

Centuries. The dream of the Thousand-Year Reich would not die that day after all. Hitler orated the following prediction to Trudel Junge: “Out of my personal commitment, the seed will grow again one day, one way or another, for a radiant rebirth of the National Socialist movement in a truly united nation.” A day later, in a courtyard littered and deserted, shaking under artillery drumfire, two SS bodyguards hurriedly poured gasoline over Hitlers corpse. He had eluded the fate he had feared most: a Moscow show trial “run by Jews.”

Bleeding from a self-inflicted bullet wound to the right temple and wrapped in a blanket, the body was torched by the flame from a cigarette lighter while nine of the Fuhrer’s close aides, led by Propaganda Minister Joseph Goebbels, so briefly his successor, came to attention and silently offered the supposedly final Hitler salute.

Was it all an illusion?

“I can hear Hitler laughing in hell now.” Thus reflected George Shultz, President Reagan’s poker-faced secretary of state, a low-key diplomat not given to fantasy, in his 1993 memoirs.

Shultz was reconstructing the strange 1985 affair at the military cemetery in Bitburg, where the enduring memory of Hitler maneuvered Reagan and Chancellor Helmut Kohl into canonizing departed Waffen-SS fighters who might well have been guilty of hideous war crimes — thereby further immortalizing the Führer, if in another world.

Uncannily, Hitler had predicted his durability earlier, at a time and place subsequently well documented.

It happened on a dazzling, euphoric day in June 1940, in Paris, shortly after 6 A.M., and he had just conquered the city he loved and envied. Viewing Napoleon’s tomb, he noted that its design forced him to look downward in order to glimpse the emperor’s remains. He deemed this poor public relations. As he told Albert Speer, his own memorial would ensure that he was looked up at, not down, and remembered forever.

Fittingly, Hitler s posthumous quasi-survival emerges from the shadows each April 20. That was his Ehrentag, the day of honor, his birthday, and I remembered the occasion vividly: banners, parades, and no school.

During my visit to Germany in January 1994, a headline in the Berlin afternoon newspaper BZ am Mittag said, “Times: Hitler Stops British Soccer.” The London Times was reporting that a championship match between Germany and Britain had been called off because it was set for April 20, the Führers birthday, and riots were feared. An Italian sports journal was also quoted. “Hitler won,” it said. “The cancellation grew from fear of right-wing extremists.”

German sports functionaries were indignant, and one official, Wolfgang Niersbach, blamed American interests. “Eighty percent of the American press is in Jewish hands,” he explained. He singled out the Washington Post, whose owners, the Graham family, if they heard about the incident, were presumably startled by their sudden change of religion.

Later, the cancellation was confirmed, and Sir Bert Millichip, president of the British Football Association, declared, “We had hoped that these risks might have receded. Unfortunately, in our opinion, they have not.”

“It’s an outrage,” responded Otto Jöhne, the Berlin head of the German Soccer Federation. “It’s bad for sport when a tiny minority of extremists succeed like this.”

A tiny minority of extremists? That sounded familiar. That was what my father had called the rising Hitler movement when I was growing up.


1 The speechlessness was a truly physical reaction. The Berliners have a marvelous colloquialism for becoming so tongue-tied. They say, “Da Bleibt einem die Spucke weg,” meaning, “One’s spittle freezes.”

2The new chancellor, Goebbels, also looked ahead, even though he would shortly commit suicide himself. At one of his last staff conferences, he told his assistant, “Perform now so you will look good on color TV in the year 1999.”
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“THE BLOOD OF GERMANS IS A SPECIAL FLUID”

Since a nations raw realities tend to find their mirror images in its courts, I decided to pursue my mid-1990s explorations with a quick look at several relatively current trials in widely separated cities where a number of very different types of judges were presiding over cases that had striking characteristics in common. The defendants were young, of the post-Nazi generation, and yet their crimes were rooted in the Hitler ideology.

Only one of the judges was a throwback to the courts of the Third Reich, and he was finding much to enjoy in the case before him. Judge Rainer Orlet, fifty-nine, of the Mannheim State Court, was a self-confessed introvert who lived alone, without telephone or car. His social life was confined to an occasional outing to a Chinese restaurant with his mother. And ever since he became famous in the summer of 1994 by, in effect, finding the notorious neo-Nazi party boss Günter Deckert not guilty of being a neo-Nazi, the judge felt “persecuted.”

Like Deckert, Judge Orlet stuck to his guns. This defendant was an “unusually interesting and appealing personality of firm principles” — so Orlet insisted even after his verdict unleashed an international firestorm. He and the defendant had so much in common that they might well have become friends, the judge said. Orlet, like Deckert, had quit Chancellor Kohls conservatives because they were too friendly with the Communists. And the judge compared his Deckert dictum with the gentle treatment that was accorded Hitler because of the Führers “selflessness” in the deadly Beer Hall Putsch of 1923. “I see Deckert that way, too,” he told a reporter admiringly And popular approval reached the delighted judge in a flood of applauding letters in his mail and to the newspapers.

Orlet viewed himself as an idealist like Hemingway’s partisan hero in For Whom the Bell Tolls. The judge waxed rhapsodic as he recalled that romantic figure: “His leg was shattered, but he fought on. I would have fought on the Franco side, but I was incredibly impressed.”

His defendant/hero, Günter Deckert, a man then in his mid-fifties, described himself as a revisionist and compared himself to Galileo and medieval martyrs. He hoped to assume Hitler’s defunct title of Reichskanzler and he delighted his audiences by expressing his “doubts” that Jews were gassed during what he derisively minimized as “the Holo.”

Deckert was fired from his high school teaching job in 1988 as an “enemy” of the German constitution. He started the Germania travel agency and remained a city councilman in Weinheim, a pretty tourist spot in the Bergstrasse district of the Rhineland. Fame came to him as chairman of the National Partei Deutschland, an ultra-right-wing party of 5,000 members specializing in agitation against foreigners. According to the party’s literature, “The blood of Germans is a special fluid, very different from foul-smelling slime.”

In the summer of 1994, Judge Orlet wrote a sixty-six page opinion, which the prosecutor denounced as constituting “instructions” for getting away with denying the Holocaust (illegal under German law).

The root cause of Deckert s joy and subsequent headache was Fred A. Leuchter, the “engineer” and ranking Holocaust denier. At Deckert ‘s invitation, Leuchter had spoken to an enthusiastic audience at a Weinheim inn in 1991. While Deckert, who used to teach English, translated approvingly, Leuchter asserted it would take sixty-eight years to gas six million Jews and another thirty-five years to cremate them. The Weinheimers applauded and laughed heartily when “the Holo” was made the subject of dreadful jokes.

In 1992, Deckert was sentenced to one year in prison, but in March 1994 the Mannheim State Court ordered a new trial, complaining that the lower court had failed to ascertain all the necessary facts. And so the case wound up before Judge Orlet, whose amiable chief judge let him run the show in his court because Orlet’s painstaking opinions tended to be “revision-proof” — precisely what was needed in the Deckert case.

Orlet’s notoriety for hating left-wingers went back to the 1969 university riots in Heidelberg, where his harsh rulings stood out. He once let a student defendant testify for three hours without allowing him to be seated. Thereafter, Orlet was considered somewhat unstable under stress. In 1974, he had suffered what the press called “a nervous breakdown” and was moved to the gentler atmosphere of Mannheim.

Two decades later, a full-page color magazine photo of Orlet offered an unusual appearance, possibly revealing and certainly incongruous for a judge: short, corpulent, trim, sport coat several sizes too long and too wide. He is clutching a briefcase like a security blanket, his round, bland face glistening with perspiration.

In the Deckert case, Orlet’s opinion downgraded the historical realities of the Holocaust murders to a “thesis” and a “conviction.” It criticized the fact that Germany was still subject to “extensive demands” to make good for the persecution of Jews “while the mass murders of other nations remain unatoned” — a common German allusion to Israeli treatment of Palestinians.

About Deckert, Orlet held reassuring views. The defendant was “no anti-Semite”; he merely considered it “desirable that research constantly rechecked even historical theses that are considered valid.” Deckert “left a good impression upon the court” as a “responsible personality of strong character” whose “political conviction is a matter of the heart.”

Orlet and his two fellow judges conceded that Deckert had violated German law when he told his 1991 Weinheim audience that the Holocaust was a myth perpetrated by “a parasitical people who were using a historical lie to muzzle and exploit Germany.” The judges found him guilty again, and again sentenced him to one year in jail, but suspended the sentence in the expectation that he would be careful to “avoid punishable involvements” in the future, even though “changes in his political views … were not to be expected.”

The ensuing storm was fast in coming. Jewish spokesmen cried foul. The German justice minister called the verdict “a slap in the face of all Holocaust victims.” The prosecutor in the case said he thought he was caught drunk when he read Orlet s opinion. The Association of German Judges called it a “slip of the footing.” Orlet s chief judge regretted “unfortunate formulations that might be misunderstood.”

Initially, Orlet remained unmoved. “I don’t understand all the excitement,” he said. “When the verdict is considered objectively, it follows that it is in order as it stands.”

The political establishment disagreed. Another trial was ordered. Orlet was furloughed because of “long-term illness.” Yet in a matter of weeks his judicial colleagues closed ranks behind him, and after a leisurely journey of homage to patriotic sites in eastern Germany, Orlet resumed his seat on the bench.

However, when the media started accusing Orlet of being a neo-Nazi and Holocaust denier himself, he distanced himself from the Deckert verdict and claimed that the media had misinterpreted his words. When he was asked if he could imagine being friends with a man like Deckert, he said that his positive reply had been purely theoretical. He maintained that he was not an anti-Semite, admitted that the Holocaust really did occur, and added that he fully supported the state of Israel. Despite these assertions, Orlet was threatened with arrest as a Holocaust denier, at which point — being sixty and severely handicapped — he asked for and was granted his pension in July 1995.

At his third trial in April 1995, Günther Deckert was sentenced to two years in prison without probation, for Gefährliche Politische Brandstiftung — literally, “dangerous political incendiarism” — by Judge Wollentine in Karlsruhe.

While still in prison, Deckert wrote a provocative, dangerously inflammatory letter, which was published in the NPD newspaper, to the then chairman of the Central Council of Jews, Michel Friedman, strongly urging him, as a Jew, to leave Germany. Again, Deckert was accused of “incendiarism,” and at his trial in Mannheim in 1997 he was found guilty and sentenced to another two years and three months in prison. His lawyer in this case, Ludwig Bock, based his defense on the fact that the Holocaust was a “legend” invented by the Jews. In his argument to the court, Bock claimed that German politicians legitimized their “unique political incompetence” through the “uniqueness of German guilt” and called President Herzog and Chancellor Kohl to the witness stand. In 1999, Bock himself was fined 9,000 German marks for this statement, which was declared to be Volksverhetzung — sedition. He refused to pay, claiming that he had not denied the Holocaust but simply used the argument to defend his client. He was brought to trial in Mannheim on April 4, 2000, the issue being whether he, or any lawyer, had the right to deny the Holocaust for the sake of his client’s defense. Bock’s own defense lawyer, Norbert Wingerter, claimed that a defense lawyer’s job was to verharmlosen — to make harmless or to play down. The jury decided that though a defense lawyer is protected when he tries to “play down” the defendant’s crime, this protection ends when the act of verharmlosen is “foreign” to the case. Bock’s fine of 9,000 marks was upheld.

“It’s like a kindergarten here,” Judge Hans Blumenstein in Stuttgart Youth Court blurted out at the sight of seven giggling, whispering, nail-biting young men, the defendants in my second case.

The youths were on trial for murder. Shortly after 2 A.M. on a hot July night in 1992 they had beaten Sadri Berisha to death with a baseball bat. The victim had been asleep in his home. A well-regarded construction worker, resident in Germany for twenty years, he was offensive to the slayers simply because he was a foreigner, an outsider, an inferior element.

“To make a little noise, raise a little ruckus, to provoke a little so maybe he’d attack us.” That was what the killers had in mind, or so Klaus-Dieter Angelbauer described their original intentions in court a year later. Angelbauer was twenty-one but looked seventeen.

The deadly caper had started innocently over some beers at the Kegler bar in Kemnat, an industrial town of 5,000 near Stuttgart, amid the picturesque scenery of Swabia. When the Kegler closed, the group repaired to the home of some friends. There, the mood had initially been mellow, remembered Thomas Wede, their unappointed leader, until two outside elements infiltrated the beery gathering.

Someone put on some LP records. The first was hard rock music: celebrations of violence by a band of skinheads known as Kahlkopf (Shaved Head). And then came the shrieking, importuning voice of the Führer himself on LP, delivering some of his mesmerizing speeches, his calls to arms of half a century ago. At once, dramatically, the mood changed, so the defendants testified. The air turned tense.

“Plözlich war’s da,” one of them recalled. “Suddenly, there it was.” A catchword ran through the room: “Asylanten!” — asylum seekers. It was the standard war cry, the red flag that often goaded neo-Nazi bullies into action.

Off the soon-to-be killers trooped, armed with baseball bats, air pistols, and a metal bar. The door to the bungalow where Sadri Berisha rented a room was open, and the group stormed in. Berisha was barely awake when two blows on the head by Thomas Wede’s baseball bat killed him on the spot.

The official reaction was predictably defensive. “We’re no nest of rightist radicals,” said Mayor Herbert Rösch. “We’ve been living for years with foreigners, just like other towns.” The police report stated, “It cannot be disputed that no political background existed.”

That was not quite true. In Thomas Wede’s room, swastikas decorated the walls, as did newspaper clippings of extremist violence and slogans such as “Foreigners Out!” and “Germany for Germans.” Yet neither Wede nor any of his fellow killers were affiliated with political groups of any kind. Theirs was a case of “‘Stammtisch-Radikalismus,” said one of the police investigators, a statement that tried to make the event look almost homey, routine, for the Stammtisch is a venerable German institution in pubs and cafés where a big table is set aside for the regulars, the steadfast indigenous clientele gathering for gossip and hilarity and the comfort of the like-minded.

Judge Blumenstein and some — possibly most — of the spectators at the trial were not among the like-minded. Thomas Wede received a life sentence. His principal confederate got nine years, and two of the other perpetrators were each given seven-year sentences. The rest were sentenced to various lengths of probation. And if Hitler had the first word, he was also given the last. As one of the court spectators said of the defendants, “Them people should have their heads off, like Hitler.”

* * *

My third case was triggered by treasured possessions of Volker L.s parents: old-style recordings of Hitler and Joseph Goebbels. To Volker, eighteen, these speeches were not memorabilia but the foundation for his everyday beliefs. ‘Information material,” he called them in court. As he listened to them more and more often, his enthusiasm for the ideas of the departed leaders grew.

“They were to my taste,” he testified.

It was a taste already conditioned by annual garden parties and campfires celebrating Hitlers birthday in Volkers native village, Hünxe (population 1,420), in Westphalia, and by his contacts with a noisy extremist neo-Nazi party, the FAP (Freiheitliche Deutsche Arbeiterpartei). Though tiny, the party was another powerful motivating force propelling Volker into action.

“Ausländer Raus!” (“Out with Foreigners!”) was its principal slogan. And: “No voting rights for foreigners, no multicultural society!” And: “The rising numbers of foreigners are threatening the existence of Germans!” These were Volkers sentiments exactly, and he knew how to boost the cause.

On the night of October 3, 1991, Volker and two like-minded cronies, Jens G. and Andre O, both eighteen, were drinking heavily at a party given by a friend. Later, the police picked up FAP literature in Jens s room. Andre’s father was known to celebrate Hitlers birthday regularly.

The boys found their party boring, so toward midnight the threesome drove to Volker’s home and, in the garage, prepared Molotov cocktails. Volker later told the police that he might have been inspired by a well-known recent arson against foreigners in Hoyerswerda. In court he said, “Suddenly the idea was there.” His friend Jens agreed: “It all ran automatically.”

They knew just what to do. Without speaking, they filled three bottles with motorcycle fuel, placed parts of a flammable rag in the neck of each, and drove off in Andre s car to the obvious target, the home for asylum seekers on Dorstener Strasse.

Their recollections of what took place there were shrouded by either alcohol or guilt, probably both. Volker and Jens admitted that they heaved their missiles against the wall of the home, “thinking nothing” at the time. Andre claimed that he deliberately aimed his cocktail at a car. They drove away without turning on their lights.

The Juvenile Court of Duisburg was already in session on April 28 of the following year when the mother pulled her fiercely resisting ten-year-old daughter to the front of the defendants’ bench, pulled off the girl’s sweater, and spit on the floor. From behind, the father shouted, “They must see what they did to my children!”

The presiding judge, though clearly revolted by the acts of the defendants, nonetheless warned the child’s father that any further outburst would result in the entire family’s removal from the courtroom. But everyone there had caught a glimpse of the girl’s upper arms, which her mother had exposed to the three defendants, who seemed completely unmoved: both the girl’s arms were covered with horribly mutilating scars. Her injuries, which had been life-threatening, had required repeated surgery.

The victims of the three neo-Nazis, their anonymous and arbitrary targets in the dark, were the Saado family: Faozi, Zeibeide, and their six children, Lebanese refugees long resident in Germany. The parents and four of the children escaped injury. Zeinab was the daughter badly hurt; her sister Mokadass sustained lesser burns.

For attempted murder, arson, and the associated offenses, the judge imposed prison sentences of five years on Volker and three and a half on his colleagues. He also made certain the defendants would remember for life. They were ordered to pay the equivalent of $150,000 in compensation, as well as a lifetime pension of $240 a month to Zeinab.

Reactions to the verdict reflected a diversity of interests. The defense attorneys pronounced themselves pleased. The sentences were better than they had hoped for, they asserted. Hopefully, too, the convicted men would find work after their release from prison, so that at least “a fraction” of the awarded compensation would perhaps actually be paid.

Mr. Saado, on the other hand, was disgusted. “Money is only money,” he said. “My daughter will be marked for life.” Both of the injured girls were still waking up at night, he said, terrified, bathed in perspiration.

On behalf of the defendants, Martin Duscha, the evangelical pastor of Hiinxe, who knew all three, was sad. The young men were not right-wing extremists, he said. They were only “misled” by the “information material” left behind by the Third Reich.

The locale of my next exhibit of justice at work, the pretty village of Dolgenbrodt — 270 souls, mostly farmers, fishermen, and retirees — slumbers on its narrow peninsula in the pine woods and lakes twenty-five miles southeast of Berlin, in what not long ago was Communist East Germany. It has no store, no post office, no local police. It does own a collective secret: a conspiracy of silence that speaks loudly about the Nazi notion of racial purity still poisoning German life and death.

Death, in this case barely avoided, could easily have been the fate of eighty-six African refugees who were to have been moved within hours into the abandoned children’s vacation home at the Dolgenbrodt lakefront. The county authorities, anticipating trouble, had already instituted a guard service, placed bars over the windows, and surrounded the building with a barbed wire fence. “It looked like a concentration camp,” recalled the mayor, with no irony intended.

The villagers had fiercely opposed the coming of the Africans. A citizen committee was formed. Angry letters were sent to the county chiefs in Königs Wusterhausen. Protest meetings were held. Finally, at a citizen assembly in the village inn on October 22, 1992, a spark flew that hinted of a violent solution to Dolgenbrodt’s emergency. Someone — later nobody was able to recall who — suggested that the home be burned down.

It was. On the night of November 1, two Molotov cocktails were thrown across the fence. The guards were unaccountably not present. Of the fifteen Dolgenbrodt volunteer firemen, only five managed to pull themselves awake, arriving in time merely to prevent the fire from spreading to other buildings. This inefficiency is all the more surprising in that these same firemen, when they were part of East Germany, had won the “speed competition” — a multi-city race to see which fire brigade could respond most quickly to an emergency. The Dolgenbrodt brigade came in first, with a response time of just over four minutes. This time, however, the local firemen would clearly have finished last: the condemned homestead for the Africans burned to the ground while the fire sirens wailed. Hardly anyone seemed to have heard them. The fire burned its lonely way as if it had been a long-awaited and welcome guest. One old-timer, Willi Schulz, eventually appeared on the scene to hoist the old Reich War Flag in victory.

During the ensuing investigation, the silence of those interrogated was proverbially deafening. Several people said they had had a lot of beer, in order to sleep soundly that night. The innkeeper could not recall any of the talk that had swirled around in his bar only ten days before. He swore he hadn’t even been in the room during the October 22 meeting when the fate of the home was sealed. Schulz s son said his father advised him not to go to the fire scene, because he might be called an arsonist. The rule of see no evil, hear no evil grew to include remember no evil.

Yet evil will out, especially about crimes organized and executed at the hands of amateurs who are moved by ideology. In May 1993, a nineteen-year-old skinhead, Silvio Jackowski from Königs Wusterhausen, was arrested after he bragged in a local bar that he and three skinhead friends had committed the arson. And in August, the leftist Berlin newspaper taz reported that the equivalent of $1,200 had been collected in the village to contract the job and that a “victory celebration” had been held in the inn afterward.

Judge Klaus Przybilia, who heard the case in Potsdam in June 1994, expressed himself extraordinarily frustrated. More than thirty witnesses were heard, but nobody said one incriminating word. Jackowski and his three friends acknowledged that they were happy the home had been torched, but denied the crime. Jackowski testified that he had merely been boasting, and he accused the other three. The girlfriends of that trio all testified that the men had spent the night of the fire with them. And that was that.

Jackowski was convicted and sentenced to four weeks in prison for driving without a license and carrying a weapon, but was released because he had already served more than a month while awaiting trial.

Judge Przybilia, visibly angry, found fault with the superficiality of the pretrial investigation. He said that an arson expert should have been consulted, and ordered the prosecutors to review their efforts. His strongest censure, however, was directed at the villagers, whom he accused of acting as a cohesive force. While he felt compelled to exonerate Jackowski of arson on the basis of reasonable doubt, he placed the townspeople in another category.

“This chamber is not in a position to acquit the village itself of complicity,” he said. “The climate for the arson was created there. Only the enforcer was lacking.” Complaining that “the court has run into a wall of silence,” he found “the deep sleep of the Dolgen-brodters on the night of the fire” particularly “surprising.”

The taz headline read, “No Acquittal for Dolgenbrodt,” and media attention was strong, so the case could not be shelved. Though the wheels of justice did grind slowly, the facts are finally coming out. In April 1997, several other people were accused of the crime. One, Pierre S., aged twenty-three, was accused of committing perjury during the original 1994 trial, for not disclosing that he knew Silvio Jackowski was one of the arsonists and that the local florist, Thomas O., had paid him. Pierre S. was put on probation for three years and ordered to pay a fine of 4,500 marks. In 1999, Silvio Jackowski was given a two-year probation for his part in the Dolgenbrodt arson. But through the new trial the facts began to emerge.

On the night of the fire, Silvio and a man known in court records as Marko S. had entered the town meeting and accidentally heard mention of the possibility of burning down the future asylum seekers’ home. Later that night, the two young men, Silvio and Marko, heard from the latter s stepfather that there were people willing to pay for the arson. Thomas O., who lives near the site of the arson, had apparently collected money to pay for the crime, and he too is now under arrest.

In the early hours of the morning following the arson, Pierre S. and Silvio Jackowski returned to the site of the fire, where, after bantering with the members of the press who had come to cover the story, they went to pick up the promised money from Thomas O., who had collected a total of 12,000 marks, 1 2,000 of which was to be an award for the deed and 10,000 hush money In court, Silvio claimed that all he did was take the money from Thomas Q, while the fire was lit by twenty-seven-year-old neo-Nazi Renato P., who is also now under arrest. Thomas O. and three other men, whose names remain as yet undisclosed, are still due to be tried for having collected the money.

In these later trials, another interesting fact came to light. In the early 1990s, a real estate firm had shown interest in the land where the children’s vacation home stood. The firm had approached Ute Preissler, who was then mayor of Dolgenbrodt, for a possible deal, and serious negotiations ensued. A secretary of the real estate firm testified that a couple of hours before the arson, Mayor Preissler had called the firm’s boss and begged him to do something: “They want to move in there now!” she is claimed to have said, clearly meaning the dreaded Africans. Already back in November 1992, the mayor had been the subject of a major scandal when she reacted to the arson by saying, “No one here was sad about this solution.”

On July 23, 1994, a hot summer day, twenty-three skinheads from Erfurt, between the ages of sixteen and twenty-four, had wanted to take a bus to a skinhead concert (oi music) in Thuringia. But the concert was cancelled. Since the bus (which was rented) had cost money, they decided to go on a tour of the region. They ransacked the bus and urinated around gas stations where they stopped, already drunk, in the morning. One tore the moneybox from the hands of a Turkish flower-seller, spilling his earnings all over the floor. At noon they stopped for a couple of hours at Hohenwarte-Stausee, where one of the skinheads grabbed a parasol from a bar and jumped off a wall into the lake with it. Others damaged a boat. Another started a fight with a twenty-year-old Austrian who would not give him a cigarette, not even for money. “Not for you,” the Austrian had said. The skinhead punched him in the face and lifted five cigarettes from the pack.

It was four in the afternoon when a member of the group mentioned that someone was throwing a party at Weimar that evening, so the name Buchenwald came up (the former concentration camp is not far from “Weimar). Some wanted to go there to pass the time up to the party, others were indifferent, others still were asleep (as they testified in the ensuing trial). Those who wanted to go prevailed, and the bus driver was ordered to take them to Buchenwald. Doubtless, given the nature and actions of his passengers, the driver should probably have refused, but he decided to follow orders.

Thus it was that late that afternoon around seventeen young right-wing extremists (the other six remained on the bus, later claiming they “were asleep”) ranged over the wide field of the camp committing various acts of violence and vandalism. A woman working at the camp called the police, who responded, arresting three of the seventeen. As they were being taken away one of them shouted to the lady who had called the police, “I’ll burn you myself!”

Within a couple of days all the others who had visited and desecrated the camp were arrested, but they were soon released, except for the man who had stolen the cigarettes. He was sentenced to twenty months in jail because he had a record of previous arrests. When news spread of the vandalism at Buchenwald, the Israeli ambassador in Bonn went to visit the camp, and Ignaz Bubis, chairman of the Central Council of Jews, was furious. “I would lock them up until they come to their senses,” he said.

The recent history of the city of Lübeck is notable for a series of disturbing neo-Nazi events. On March 25, 1994, four young neo-Nazis set fire to the Lübeck synagogue. They were tried and found guilty by the court in Schleswig. It was the first attack on a Jewish house of God in Germany since Kristallnacht in 1938. That year, the Lübeck synagogue had not been burned down because it was near the “German-Aryan” museum of Saint Anne, the Nazis limiting themselves to destroying cult objects inside it. In 1995, the same synagogue was again set on fire to mark the fiftieth anniversary of the fall of the Third Reich. As in the 1994 case, the neo-Nazis were tried and found guilty.

A year later, again in Lübeck, a home for asylum seekers was set on fire, on January 18, 1996, killing ten people and injuring thirty-eight. Four young neo-Nazis from Grevesmühlen were arrested at the time, but were quickly released when a former resident of the home, Safwan Eid, a twenty-year-old Lebanese, was arrested because he had allegedly told first-aid attendant Jens Leonhardt, “Wir warns” — “It was we [who did it].” At the time, Safwan, a recent arrival, had but a rudimentary grasp of the language: he had taken only six months of German lessons. During his trial, which began in September 1996, when asked to say and write what he had told Mr. Leonhardt on the night of the arson, he said and wrote, “dir waren das”: he confused the word dir— “you,” with wir— “we,” and die — “they” Furthermore, according to the files, Safwan had reported to his friends and neighbors that people from outside the house had set fire to it — this prior to his conversation with Jens Leonhardt, who was the principal witness for the prosecution. There is also a dispute regarding the exact location of the start of the fire, as Mr. Leonhardt gave inconsistent versions of what Safwan had said on the matter. Finally, it is hard to believe that Safwan, who lived in the home with his family, would set fire to it unless he had suicidal as well as homicidal intentions.

The four young neo-Nazis from Grevesmühlen had no alibi for the night of the arson and were found, during a medical examination following their arrest, to have scorched hair, eyebrows, and eyelashes of very recent origin. These young men already had extensive criminal records for violence and theft, and one of them is currently charged with the desecration of Jewish graves. On April 8, 1998, one of the original suspects, Maik Wotenow, confessed to the crime and claimed that the other three suspects were jointly responsible. Three days later, Wotenow retracted his confession.

Finally, in another disturbing display of Lübecks political leanings, on March 14, 1998, three hundred uniformed Nazis marched through the St. Lorenz Nord section in Lübeck carrying black, white, and red flags.2

On February 13, 1999, in the early hours of the morning, a fight broke out in front of a disco in Guben, a former East German town near the Polish border, where a group of locals attacked the guests of the club, most of whom were foreigners. During the brawl, a black man took out a machete and slightly injured one of their group. Ten to fifteen young people, among them skinheads, set out in a car to find the man and take revenge. At a gas station they came across three foreigners, two Algerians and an asylum seeker from Sierra Leone. The two Algerians ran off in opposite directions, the man from Sierra Leone following one of the two, whose name was Omar Ben Noui. Less than half a mile from the gas station, Ben Noui and the man from Sierra Leone broke into a house, seeking safety. However, in smashing through the glass door, Ben Noui injured himself so badly that he bled to death. The neo-Nazis drove away. Shortly thereafter, eleven neo-Nazis between the ages of seventeen and twenty were accused of negligent homicide, dangerous bodily harm, disturbing the peace, and sedition.

Again in the city of Guben, on March 21, 2000, six men and two women between the ages of sixteen and twenty were accused of vandalizing a Jewish cemetery during the night of March 19. A chapel, several graves, and the cemetery walls were damaged and sprayed with anti-Semitic propaganda and swastikas.

On May 29, 1993, the house of a Turkish family was set on fire in the town of Solingen. Five Turkish women and girls died. It took two years for the crime to come to trial, but in 1995 four neo-Nazis between the ages of twenty and twenty-five were tried for the murder of the five people and the attempted murder of fourteen others who were in the house at the time. They were sentenced to ten to fifteen years in jail. Bekir Gene, aged twenty-two, who was very badly burned, received 250,000 marks (almost $174,000 at that time) compensation for pain and suffering as well as a monthly pension of 360 marks (then about $250). Gene has already undergone twenty-two operations, as one-third of his skin was burned and his head severely damaged. Ahmet Ince, whose wife died in the fire, was awarded 8,000 marks (then roughly $5,500) and his injured daughter 10,000 (about $7,000). Altogether the offenders will be paying a quarter of a million marks in restitution as well as providing for the reconstruction of the damaged house.
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